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KIOWA PEAK

lincages occurred, with shicld and tepeec designs
and band names usually descending in the male
line.

Another important aspect of Kiowa social struc-
ture was the clubs, dancing socicties, or soldier
bands. These were not graded (though young boys
belonged to the Rabbits and youths to the Herd-
crs), for after maturity a man joined whichever
of the adult groups he liked best. Important old
women belonged to groups whose meelings and
purposes were deeply secret and who secmed to
have inspired ferror in most persons. The men’s
societies functioned as police groups supervising
the buffalo hunts or tribal movements, as philan-
thropic agencics, and as social groups.

The Kiowas were well-known for their annual
calendars, for almost every important family seems
to have had one. Many of these go back to the
carly nineteenth century when they were recorded
upon buckskins.

The Kiowan language is unique to the plains;
its nearest affiliation being Tanoan in the South-
west, and with possibly o more distant relation-

ship to Shoshoni, a dialect of which is spoken hy-

the Comanche. The sign language was used to
communicate with other tribes as well as with the
Kiowa-Apache.

In physical type, the Kiowa were dark-skinned,
short, stocky, with brachycephalic heads.

Earliest tradition locates the Kiowa northwest
of the Vellowstone arca, with a Black Hills loca-
tion in the eighteenth century. In this area they are
reputed to have bad contact with the Comanche,
whom they seem to have pushed southward. The
first regular American trading relations with the
Kiowa were hegun in 1834, and the first treaty
with the United States, stipulating peace and

- friendship, was signed in 1834, Nevertheless, raid-
ing continued, especially against Texans, and in
1264 there was a gencral uprising of the plains In-
dians. The resulting Medicine Lodge Treaty of
1867 changed the whole status of the Kiowa and
their 2llies from that of independent tribes with
free and unrestricted ranges over the whole plains
Lo that of pensioners dependent on the govern-
ment, confined {o the parrow limits of a reservation
and subject to constant military and civilian super-
vision.

In 1871 2 large raiding party of Riowa is re-
puted to have killed seven men in Texas in what
is known as the Salt Creek Massacre.s™ Boasting
of their deeds before Germeral W. T. Sherman,®”
three of the most important leaders were arrested
and furned over to the state of Texas. One of
these (Szinnk 9%) Jater resicted and was killed, but
Satanta and Big Tree * were held as hostages, In
1872 two commissions were sent out from Wash-
ington in an aitempt to settle the various problems
causing friction between the ever expanding white
settlements and the several Indian groups. Neither
commissicn achieved positive results, The Xiowa
finally azreed to zend delegates to Washington,
where ikey were promised the rcturn of their
two chiefs ihe following spring, on the condition
that they conduct themselves properly through the
winter of 1872-18%3 and return stolen stock and all
captives Leld Ly them. The Kiowa complied with

ns, but the people of Texas, on hear-

ing of the promise to release the two captives,
profested wigorously. Official pressure finally

brought abuatt their release in Ociober, 1873,

[965] KIRBY, HELEN ;D

Hardly had Satanta and Big been»return’e’d,/
when a group of Texans visited the Kiowa reserva-
tion and ran off two hundred horses and mules,
while Texas newspapers continued, probably er-
roncously, to report renewed raids by Satanta and
Big Tree. With lawless white men destroying the
buffalo by the thousands, with government-prom-
ised rations delayed or not delivered, the Kiowa
and other fribes were suffering from hunger, and
a general outbreak occurred in the spring of 1874,
with an attack in the later part of June by the
confederated Comanche, Cheyenne,® and Kiowa
upon Adobe Walls (sec Adobe Walls, Second Bat-
tle of).

The peaceful element of the various tribes had
been gathered at Fort Sill and the enrollment for
that summer showed four-fifths of the Kiowa and
all of the Kiowa-Apache among the “friendlics,”
as they svere called.

A campaign against the bostiles was vigorously
prosecuted in the fall, winter, and into the spring
of 1875, by which time most of the resurgents
were brought under military conirel. Irom this
time on the XKiowa remained quietly on the reser-
vation and tried to follow the new path of the
white men with patient resignation, with only oc-
casional interludes of disquiet.

See Kiowa-Apache Indians. .

BisrrocrArry: James Mooney, “Calendar History of
the Kiowa Indians,” Bureax of Jmen’cau Ethnology, x7th
Aunnual Report, Part z (1898); Thomas Battey, The Life
and Adventures of a Quaker Among the Indians (1875);
Alice Marriott, The Ten Grarndmothers (1945): ]7. %
Methvin, Andele or the bfexican-Kiowa Caplsve {19:7 )

J. Gilbert A cAllister

Kiowa Peak. Kiowa Peak, in the northeast
corner of Stonewall County, rises to an elevation
of 1,800 fect.

Kirby, Helen Marr (Swearingen). Helen
Marr (Swearingen) Kirby, daughter of Margaret
M. and Richard J. Swearingen, was born in Mo-
bile, Alzbamna, on January 17, 183%7. Her parents
brought her to Chapel Hill, Texas, in 1839. She
graduated from Wesleyan Female College at
Macon, Georgia, in 1855 and on April 18, 1858,
marricd Jared E. Kirby. After her hushand’s death
in 1865, she opened Alta Vista Institute, a board-
ing school for girls, at her home near Hempstead.
She moved her sons to Austin in 1875 and taught
temporarily in a private school until she opened
an Alta Vista Insiitute in Austin. She closed her
school in June, 1884, and in Scptember, 1884, be-
came “Lady Assistant” at the University of
Texas.?™ She was made assistznt dean of women
in 1902 and dean in 1903, serving until 1919, when
she was made dean cmerita. She established the
Gertrude Swearingen Scholarship at the Univer-
sity in honor of her sister. Xirby Hall, the Meth-
odist dormitory for girls at the University, was
recipient of an endowment from her estate and
was named for her. Slories of her activilies as dean
and her influence on two generations of women
at the University became a part of campus lore.
She died in Austin on November 29, 1921,

The Helen Marr Kirby Fellowship of $40,000,
which has provided an annual international fcl-
lowship of $r,500 since 1945, was set up in her
honor by the American Association of University
Women.

BroLroGrAPuY:  Sinclair  Moreland, 7The Texas
Women's Hall of Fome (1917); The A[cah:’e, IX (Jan.
uary, 1922).
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BLACK PRAIRIE [170]

River empties into Copano Biy. The mouth of
the river 1s quite wide; within it lics the shell reef
which was a habitat of the Karankawa and Copano
Indians,«1¥

Irancis, John, and Thomas Welder landed at
Black Point in May, 1836, and a few years later
established a ranch on the shell reef. They Jater
sold this tract to Captain Philip Dimitt."" Black
Point from 1838 to 1841 was a landing depot for
munitions and supplics for the Mexican Federalist
armies. The Black Point settlement figured in many
Indian raids and fights, including the kidnapping
of Jacob Kring. Major John I1. Wood v scttled
at Black Point in the 1840’s. The modern com.
munity of Bayside occupies the same site.

fobart Husen

Black Prairie. See Texas Prairics.

Black Spring Branch. Black Spring Branch
in southern Erath County flows northeast inte
Little Green Creck south of the community of
Alexander.

Blackberry Creek. Blackberry Creek, also
known as Bobs Crecek, rises in northivestern Archer
County and flows north approximately four miles
into the Wichita River in the northwestern corner
of Archier County.

Blackburn, Ephraim. Ephraim Blackburn, son
of James and Mary Blackburn, was born in 1734
and was reared in West Nottingham Township,
Pennsylvania. He commanded a company in the
American Revolution and married Prudence Rich.
Giving his home state as Maryland, Blackburn en-
tered Texas at Nacogdoches in 1801 as a member
of Philip Nolan’s * expedition. Captured with the
Nolan party, Blackburn was imprisoned at Chi-
huahua. When Spanish authorities decreed that one
man of the nine survivors of the expedition should
be Kkilled, dice were thrown to determine who
should be hanged. Blackburn, the oldest man in the
group, cast the dice first and threw the low num-
ber. He was hanged in the Plaza de los Urangas in
Chihuahua, Mexico, on November 11, 1807.

Dinrrocrarity: Maurine T, Wilson, Philip Nolan and
His Activities in Texas (ALA., thesis, University of
Texas, 1932).

Blackfoot, Texas. Blackfoot, in northern An-
derson County near Calfish Creek, is a trading cen-
ter and market for dairy and farm products. The
community had two stores and a population of
fifty in 1940.

Blackland, Texas. Blackland, in north central
Rockwall County, had a post office from 1878 to
1903. In 1949 the village had a cotton gin, a general
store, and an estimated population of twenty.

Blackland Army Air Field. Blackland Army
Air Field, five miles northwest of Waco, Texas,
was designated as China Springs Army Air Ficld
and as Waco Army Air Ficld, Number 2, before the
official name was given because of the black soil
on which the installation was erccted. The field
was activated in June, 1942, and operated as a
Glider Training School from July 7, 1942, until
October 10, 1942, when it became an Advance
Two-Engine Pilot School. Its commanding officers
were successively Colonels Emmett F. Yost, George
F. Kcene, Howell M. Estes, Fred H. Bounds,
Jergen B. Olson, Charles G. Pearcy, and James M.
Johnson. The ficld was inactivated on October 31,
1945. In 1950 it was operating as the Waco Munici-
pal Air Field, and buildings at the field were used
as a housing project.
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Elacks Bayou. Blacks Bayou in southeue i
Jelferson County flows into the Neclies River,

Black’s T'ort. Black’s Fort, on Sou
Gabriel River in castern Burnet County, w
for William Black, whe built it in 1851 {0 pre
the settlers from Indian raids. Consisting of 2 (;
walled stone house and a spring house
stone and wood stockade, the fort scrved as
dence and storage place for supplics and qmya-.-
tion, but it saw little defense service as most ¢; :
raids occurred in the western part of the cov .
near Fort Croghan® After serving as a fort v
1868, the building continued to be used as :
dence. In 1936 the Texas Centennial Commi,
erected a marker an the site,

Bistwograray: M. G. Bowden, History of -
County (MLA. thesis, University of Texas, 1g.).

i/ Blackshear, Thomas Edward. Thomas :

ward Dlacks 18T, n ol Edward and ¥
(Mitchell) Blackshear, lived in Duncaq.
Thomas County, Georgia. On December 8,
he married Emily Goodwin Raines; they
parents of nine children. Blackshear was jr -
Creck campaign of 1836 as captain of a scout ¢
pany of the 6gth Regiment, znd Brizade, Gao-
Militia, On January g, 1839, he was apn
secretary of the board of directors of the i ..
wick and Florida Railroad Company, of
he was a stockholder. He left North Caro
Texas on April 13, 1858. He settled near
as a cotton planter and on April 23, 1
chased land in the Brazos River valley. By
he had 132 slaves and by 1867 owned 23
of land. Blackshear died on October 16,
correspondence, diary, memorandum baof
account book arc in the Archives Collec
the University of Texas.

Binriocraruy: Blackshear papers (MS., Arcls
Collection, University of Texas Library).

Blacktail Creek. Blacktail Creck riscs 2. .
breaks of the Llano Estacado in northywe:
Briscoe County and flows north into the P
Dog Town Fork of Red River near the nor
county line. :

Blackwell, Thomas H. Thomas H. Blaci
immigrated to Texas in 1835. He joined the °
Army in 1836 and fought in the battle of -
Jacinto as a private in the 2nd Regiment, T-¢ =&
Volunteers. He was reading clerk in the Ie.
of Representatives in the First Congress of ¢
Republic. On December 13, 1837, Blackwell © ¢
clected county clerk of Brazoria County. -
April 14, 1845, he was one of a commitle:
twenty-cight which drew up resolutions for 5
zoria County favoring the annexation of
to the United States. He died at his hon:
Brazoria County in March, 1851. :

Brevrograrny: S§. IL Dixon and L. W. K=
Heroes of San Jacinto (1932); Telegraph exd ict
Yegister, December 17, 1837, and April 30, 1855,

Blackwell, Texas. Blackwell, in southeas. i
Nolan County, was named James when the ¢
plot was filed on August 14, 1906. The name
changed to Blackwell honoring an Enghsh s
holder in the Orient Railroad, which built tio
the town a line later owned by the Pani
and Santa Fe Railroad. Blackwell had a
tion of five hundred and thirteen business
lishments in 1943. It is a trade center for a ¢
siderable stock farming region covering part:
Nolan, Coke, and Taylor countics. R.C.Cre *
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